Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Maheen Nadeem

April 9, 2016

Assessment of Cognitive Impairment in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Induced Brain Injury:

Neurobehavioral Outcomes in a Murine Model

by

Maheen Nadeem

Dr. Gustavo Pradilla, M.D. Adviser

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

Dr. Gustavo Pradilla, M.D. Adviser

Dr. Paul Lennard, Ph.D.

Committee Member

Dr. Joseph Manns, Ph.D.

Committee Member

2016

Assessment of Cognitive Impairment in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Induced Brain Injury:

Neurobehavioral Outcomes in a Murine Model

By

Maheen Nadeem

Dr. Gustavo Pradilla

Adviser

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

2016

Abstract

Assessment of Cognitive Impairment in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Induced Brain Injury:

Neurobehavioral Outcomes in a Murine Model

By Maheen Nadeem

A large amount of money is spent on clinical trials for subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) treatments and many of them have been unsuccessful. Clinical trials should be pursued after improvements have been shown in clinically accurate animal models. Disability is highly prevalent in SAH survivors. This population has more individuals that fit diagnostic criteria for anxiety and depression than healthy reference populations and 25% of employed SAH survivors leave their jobs. Neurobehavioral deficit is thus a key outcome for animal models of SAH.

The two most commonly studied animal models of SAH are either arterial puncture models or blood injection models. Larger animals are generally easier to perform surgical methods, however small rodents are more cost-effective than larger animals. Mice provide opportunity for future transgenic study. Blood injection models are less variable between animals since hemorrhage volume is controlled via injection. In the present study, a blood injection SAH model of mice was evaluated for neurobehavioral deficits using three techniques: Modified Garcia Neurological Score, Elevated Plus Maze, and Morris Water Maze. Degeneration of hippocampal and cortical neurons was also measured with Flouro-Jade-C staining to compare SAH animals with sham controls.

Our cisterna magna injection model of SAH did not produce significant deficit in sensorimotor ability, anxiety-related behavior, or spatial learning. Fluoro-Jade-C staining also did not show enhanced neurodegeneration in SAH animals. Failure to show deficit in this model restricts the value of SAH studies in mice given that our blood injection model did not show significant functional deficit. Rat models provide a better opportunity for preclinical SAH research as they have repeatedly been shown to have deficits in our performed tests. Further investigation should be done to show that mice models of SAH that are used in justifying clinical trials do indeed present with functional neurobehavioral deficits.

Assessment of Cognitive Impairment in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Induced Brain Injury:

Neurobehavioral Outcomes in a Murine Model

By

Maheen Nadeem

Dr. Gustavo Pradilla, M.D.

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

2016

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people for their involvement with this project:

The Cerebrovascular Research Laboratory (Emory University School of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery) for conducting this study.

The Brain Aneurysm Foundation for providing the funds for this investigation.

Dr. Donald Stein and Dr. Iqbal Sayeed, along with the Brain Research lab for sharing its space and equipment with us during this project.

Dr. Nefize Turan for her consistent help throughout my learning process as a research student, and for her surgical expertise utilized for all animals in this study.

Robert Heider in sharing the neurobehavioral testing workload of this project whenever my course load restricted me.

Dr. Jun Wang for his help with any of my cryostat troubles.

Dr. Gustavo Pradilla for maintaining a supervisory role on this project despite his busy schedule.

Dr. Paul Lennard, Dr. Hillary Rodman, and Dr. Joseph Manns for committing their time to serve on my honors committee.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction/Background	
1.1 Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in the Clinical Population	1
1.2 Epidemiology	1
1.3 Presentation	2
1.4 Complications leading to poor outcome	2
1.4.1 Sudden Death	2
1.4.2 Vasospasm leading to Delayed Cerebral Ischemia	3
1.4.3 Inflammation	3
1.5 SAH survivors: Independently maintaining health, not day-to-day functioning	4
1.6 SAH Clinical Trials	8
1.7 Animal Models	8
1.8 Neurobehavioral Testing in Rodents	
1.8.1 Neurological Scoring Systems	
1.8.2 Anxiety	
1.8.3 Spatial Learning and Memory	
1.9 Histological Studies for Neuronal Injury and Degeneration	13
2. Specific Aims of the Study	
3. Hypothesis	14
4. Methods and Materials	
4.1 Animals	14
4.2 Groups	14
4.3 Surgical Technique and Post-operative Care	15
4.4 Assessment of neurobehavioral outcome	16
4.4.1 Garcia Neurological Score	
4.4.2 Elevated Plus Maze (EPM)	
4.4.3 Morris Water Maze	
4.5 Histopathological Study	
4.5.1 Transcardiac Perfusion and Harvesting of Tissue	
4.5.2 Fluoro-Jade-C staining for quantification of degenerating neurons	
4.6 Statistics	22
5. Results	
5.1 Sensory and motor ability unaffected by single injection SAH injury	
5.2 Lack of anxiety-associated behavior in SAH animals	
5.3 Spatial and Working Memory in MWM	
5.4 Neurodegeneration – Fluoro-Jade-C-Staining	
	20
6. DISCUSSION	
0.1 Summary	
6.2 In the Field: SAH Rodent Research	
0.2.1 Incurological Scole	
0.2.2 AIIXICIY	
0.2.5 Spatial Memory and Learning	
0.2.4 Incuronal Degeneration in SAH mice	
7. Conclusion	
8. References	

Figures

Figure 1: Covered Arm Entries in EPM	23
Figure 2: Time spent in Open Arms	24
Figure 3: Spatial Acquisition Phase Escape Time	25
Figure 4: Spatial Acquisition Velocity	25
Figure 5: MWM Probe Test	26
Figure 6: Saved Escape Time MWM Working Memory Testing	27
Figure 7: Neurodegeneration in SAH	28
Figure 8: FJC Staining Images	28

Tables

Table 1: Modified Rankin Scale (mRS) and extended Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS)	7
Table 2: SF-36 Questionnaire	7
Table 3: Neurobehavioral Testing Timeline	16
Table 4: Garcia Neurological Score	
Table 5: Morris Water Maze Testing Phases	
Table 6: Garcia Neurological Score Results	22
Table 7: MWM Probe Test Annulus Crossings	
Table 5: Morris Water Maze Testing Phases Table 6: Garcia Neurological Score Results Table 7: MWM Probe Test Annulus Crossings	20 22 26

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in the Clinical Population

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a form of hemorrhagic stroke that develops after an intracranial aneurysm rupture and results in pooling of blood in the subarachnoid space (Macdonald, 2014). Mortality from SAH can be as high as 50% on presentation with high rates of delayed mortality and severe disability for survivors. Reports have indicated that SAH affects 9.7-14.5 individuals per 100,000 people per year in the United States (Labovitz et al., 2006, Shea et al., 2007, Feigin et al., 2009). A recent study calculated an adjusted odds ratio to be 1.34 for SAH in women (95% CI 1.05-1.64) between 1985 and 2011 (Algra et al., 2012) and average age of incidence is around 50 for SAH (Ingall et al., 2000). Black individuals are 2.1 times (95% CI 1.3-3.6) more likely to develop SAH (Broderick et al., 1992).

1.2 Epidemiology

Explanations for the cause of aneurysmal rupture in the brain are varied and inconclusive. Risk factors for SAH generally contribute to increased vulnerability of blood vessels in the brain through loss of strength and/or stability of the arterial wall. Cigarette smoking, hypertension, heavy alcohol consumption and diabetes mellitus are associated with higher likelihoods of aneurysm development and rupture leading to SAH (Andreasen et al., 2013). Evidence that smokers are at significantly higher risk of SAH compared to non-smokers has been repeatedly shown in studies that suggest smokers are between 3.8-11.1 times more likely to develop SAH (Petitti and Wingerd, 1978, Bonita, 1986, Longstreth et al., 1992, Juvela et al., 1993). Cigarette smoking has been shown to inhibit α 1-antitrypsin which is an important inhibitor of proteolytic enzymes (Schievink et al., 1996). Dysregulation between proteases and their inhibitors can promote degradation of arterial walls, which increases the likelihood of aneurysm formation.

Hypertension combined with smoking, especially in women, greatly increases risk of SAH (Knekt et al., 1991). Heavy binge drinking also increases the risk of SAH (Longstreth et al., 1992, Juvela et al., 1993). Consequently, patterns of behavior in patients can be helpful for clinicians to counsel patients with unruptured aneurysms.

1.3 Presentation

The most common symptom in SAH patients that brings them to hospitals is acute onset of severe headache (Schievink, 1997). Minor leaks that present with earlier, milder headaches can serve as preemptive warning signs of SAH (Leblanc, 1987). Computerized tomography (CT) scans missed 55% of minor leaks in patients while lumbar puncture was always positive for minor leaks in Leblanc's 1987 study. Intraocular hemorrhage can be found in one fourth of SAH patients so ophthalmologic examination, in addition to CT scans of the brain, may be useful in diagnosis (Garfinkle et al., 1992). Hydrocephalus was found in half of patients (N=3521) in an international clinical trial study evaluating timing of surgery in patient outcome (Kassell et al., 1990). Meningeal irritation can be found in SAH patients and results in significant back and neck pain caused by hemorrhagic cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Schievink, 1997). Complications mentioned in the following section can serve as additional poignant markers of SAH during diagnostic evaluation.

1.4 Complications leading to poor outcome

1.4.1 <u>Sudden Death:</u> While mortality rates of SAH, ischemic stroke, and intracerebral hemorrhage have decreased in high-come countries since the late 1980s (Ingall et al., 1989, Hop et al., 1997, Graeff et al., 1998, Feigin et al., 2009, Poisson et al., 2014), sudden death is not uncommon in SAH victims. In an epidemiological study that evaluated the SAH population of Rochester, Minnesota from 1960-1989, 13 out of 113 (12%) of victims died before hospital

admission and 92% of those patients showed intraventricular hemorrhage at autopsy (Schievink et al., 1995).

1.4.2 Vasospasm leading to Delayed Cerebral Ischemia: Cerebral vasospasm is a secondary event in SAH patients that accounts for major morbidity and mortality (Kassell et al., 1990). Cerebral vasospasm is confirmed with cerebral angiography, occurs 3 to 15 days after the initial hemorrhage, and is related to the extent of hemorrhage found in the CT scan (Weir and MacDonald, 1993). Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI), a later pathophysiological outcome due to restricted blood flow caused by vasospasm, is also a key contributor to poor outcome in SAH survivors (Macdonald, 2014) and can result in brain infarcts in up to 40% of SAH patients (Rabinstein et al., 2004). Symptoms of ischemia develop in 50% of patients with vasospasm that is clearly visible in angiography (Connolly et al., 2012). Large artery spasm does not alone indicate DCI since extent of distal vessel autoregulation, or helpful vasodilation in response to increased cerebral pressure, varies from person to person (Yundt et al., 1998).

1.4.3 <u>Inflammation</u>: Inflammation has been proposed as a major contributor in the pathophysiology of cerebral vasospasm and DCI after SAH (Pradilla et al., 2010). Red blood cells that leave a ruptured aneurysm release free hemoglobin (Hgb) that is toxic to the cerebral microenvironment (Ascenzi et al., 2005). The immune system upregulates cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) to counteract Hgb toxicity and allow for macrophages and neutrophils to phagocytose RBCs and remove Hgb (Gallia and Tamargo, 2006, Pradilla et al., 2010). Reduced CSF flow due to vasospasm causes macrophages and neutrophils to collect in the subarachnoid space and eventually die and degranulate (Dietrich and Dacey, 2000). These immune cells release cytokines, chemokines, oxygen free radicals, and other toxic substances that can lead to chronic inflammation (Springer, 1994). Injured endothelium then recruits endothelin-1 (ET-1), a

potent vasoconstrictor that worsens cerebral vasospasm (Nishizawa and Laher, 2005). Another contributing phenomenon to post-SAH vasospasm relates to nitric oxide (NO) metabolism. Free Hgb preferentially binds NO and reduces its circulation that would otherwise combat vasospasm through vasodilation (Budohoski et al., 2014). NO has been shown to be significantly reduced in endovascular perforation rat models of SAH (Sehba et al., 2000).

Other circulating explanations for post-SAH mechanisms that lead to poor outcome implicate free radicals and oxidative stress (Gaetani and Lombardi, 1992, Gaetani et al., 1998, Kamezaki et al., 2002), diminished microcirculation (Yundt et al., 1998), microthrombosis (Ohkuma et al., 1991, Ikeda et al., 1997, Suzuki et al., 1999, Frijns et al., 2006), increased bloodbrain barrier permeability (Germano et al., 2000), and hydrocephalus (Hasan et al., 1989, Nakazato et al., 2002, Budohoski et al., 2014).

1.5 SAH survivors: Independently maintaining health, not day-to-day functioning

Based on 21 SAH patient population studies between 1960 and 1992, mortality, including prehospital deaths, varied between 32 and 67% with a weighted average of 51% (Hop et al., 1997, van Gijn and Rinkel, 2001). While case-fatality of SAH was shown to have gradually decreased in this study, dependence measured by the modified rankin scale (MRS) of SAH patients after they were discharged ranged between 10 and 20% (Hop et al., 1997). A randomized, doubleblinded, placebo-controlled clinical trial showed an association between decreased infarction and better functional outcome as measured by the widely used MRS or extended Glasgow outcome scale (<u>Table 1</u>) (Bonita and Beaglehole, 1988, Vergouwen et al., 2011). Outcome evaluation through these scales only signify how likely an SAH survivor is to require medical assistance. These scales are not sensitive enough in elucidating the effect on quality of life in independent SAH survivors (Mayberg et al., 1994). One study asked SAH survivor about their quality of life post-SAH, and only 19% of independent survivors claimed that they had no reduction in quality of life (Hop et al., 1998). Reevaluation 18 months later of that cohort found an increase to only 31% (Hop et al., 2001). Hop et al.'s 1998 study used the short form 36 (SF-36) health survey questionnaire (SF-36). This questionnaire asks patients about their health perception on eight dimensions (Table 2) (Brazier et al., 1992). Physical role limitations and social functioning were the lowest scoring categories in this study.

SAH survivors are also more likely to develop anxiety and/or depression-related disorders (Wermer et al., 2007). The hospital anxiety and depression scale is commonly used to evaluate mood states in SAH survivor populations. While ~5% of control populations are diagnosed with anxiety/depression with this test, SAH survivors have shown a 14 to 16% prevalence for these disorders (Powell et al., 2002). A prospective study of 105 patients found 37% of SAH survivors to fit diagnostic criteria for PTSD three months after SAH (Noble et al., 2008). Anxiety was either moderate or severe in 40% of patients evaluated as late as sixteen months after the initial hemorrhage (Morris et al., 2004). In Wermer et al.'s study, 59% of patients complained of alterations in personality with irritability and emotionality being the most commonly described changes (Wermer et al., 2007).

SAH survivors experience many other neurological impairments including deficits in executive functioning, memory, language, and attention (Al-Khindi et al., 2010). At three months after hospital admission, 29% of SAH patients were found to score below the tenth percentile in a prose recall test that asked them to recall as many ideas or facts that they had just heard from a spoken story (Powell et al., 2002). In another study, 42% of patients showed significantly impaired verbal memory (Mayer et al., 2002). Global cognitive impairment is present in many SAH survivors up to a year after hospitalization (Springer et al., 2009). Using

the Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status in 232 SAH survivors, Springer et al. found cognitive impairment in 27% of subjects three months after hospitalization and in 21% of subjects 12 months after hospitalization that was predicted by DCI (Springer et al., 2009). Cognitive impairment can influence an SAH survivor's working life. In a study that interviewed independent SAH survivors who received clipping, one quarter of employed survivors stopped working and about another quarter of those independent survivors took on fewer hours or a position with lesser responsibility (Wermer et al., 2007). Only half of those survivors' working lives remained unchanged after SAH.

Deficits impose difficulties for survivors' day-to-day functioning and demand that patients remain dependent on others in their lives even if they are technically independent from reliance on medical care. Those affected by SAH are on average younger than most ischemic stroke survivors (52 years versus 70-80 years) (Taylor et al., 1996). Thus, SAH survivors impose a larger cost to society, especially their loved ones, than ischemic stroke survivors. The low prevalence of favorable outcome after SAH demands that preclinical research continue to investigate cognitive decline in this disease.

Modifed Rankin Scale	Extended Glasgow Outcome Scale	Score
No symptoms at all	/	0
No significant disability despite symptoms; able to carry out all usual duties and activities	Death (D)	1
Slight disability; unable to carry out all previous activities, but able to look after own affairs without assistance	Vegetative state (VS)	2

Moderate disability; requiring some help, but able to walk without assistance	Lower severe disability (SD-)	3
Moderately severe disability; unable to walk without assistance and unable to attend to own bodily needs without assistance	Upper severe disability (SD+)	4
Severe disability; bedridden, incontinent and requiring constant nursing care and attention	Lower moderate disability (MD-)	5
Dead	Upper moderate disability (MD+)	6
/	Lower good recovery (GR-)	7
1	Upper good recovery (GR+)	8

Table 1: Modified Rankin Scale (mRS) and extended Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) Ascending mRS scores represent poorer functional outcome while the extended GOS scores represent positive recovery with ascending scores.

Area	Dimension	No of questions
Functional status	Physical functioning	10
	Social functioning	2
	Role limitations (physical problems)	4
	Role limitations (emotional	
	problems)	3
Wellbeing	Mental health	5
	Vitality	4
	Pain	2
Overall evaluation		-
of health	General health perception	5
	Health change*	1
Total		36

Table 2: SF-36 Questionnaire asks patients about their well-being in eight different categories using 36 various questions.

1.6 SAH Clinical Trials

Of the 50 randomized clinical trials for SAH reviewed in the process of creating a large repository of SAH patients, only two trials succeeded in finding a beneficial effect of treatment (Jaja et al., 2014). There is an extensive amount of money invested in clinical trials for SAH but the money does not currently seem well spent with such a low success rate. Failed translation of results in SAH animal studies to results in clinical trials can be explained by insufficient external validity of disease models (van der Worp et al., 2010). Using a clinically relevant animal model is of high importance in preclinical SAH research so that clinical trials are more likely to be successful. In the present study, we evaluate neurobehavioral and cognitive deficit in a murine SAH model so that its efficacy can be evidenced as translationally useful.

1.7 Animal Models

Induction of SAH in animal models occurs through one of three ways: arterial puncture, autologous blood injection into the subarachnoid space or around an intracranial artery of interest, or clot placement around an intracranial or extracranial artery (Megyesi et al., 2000). Rats and mice have been commonly used given that they are inexpensive and simple to house, but rats have been more thoroughly studied compared to mice (Titova et al., 2009). The first rat model of SAH was reported in 1979 and utilized a basilar artery puncture technique (Barry et al., 1979). Arterial puncture models, or endovascular perforation models, involve inserting a suture into the external carotid artery to perforate the middle cerebral artery or another vessel, however Barry et al.'s model also involved craniotomy (Park et al., 2004). Since Barry et al.'s first perforation model published in 1979, other groups have developed perforation models of internal carotid (Bederson et al., 1995) or anterior cerebral artery puncture without craniotomy (Sheffield model) (Veelken et al., 1995). Blood injection models involve injection of arterial blood, commonly from the femoral artery, to cause blood collection in the subarachnoid space around the Circle of Willis (Titova et al., 2009). Most blood injection models introduce blood to the cisterna magna, the largest gap between arachnoid and pia mater layers of the brain and consequently a convenient space for injection. The most popular rabbit model of SAH is a cisterna magna injection model that places animals 30° head-down after surgery (Chan et al., 1984). Subsequent cisterna magna injection models were developed in rats (Delgado et al., 1985, Solomon et al., 1985). In 1995, a group developed a prechiasmatic cistern injection model in rats (Piepgras et al., 1995). Injection models diverged into either single-injection (Marzatico et al., 1988, Jackowski et al., 1990) or double-injection models (Meguro et al., 2001, Gules et al., 2002). Dogs, which were the first animals to receive subarachnoid blood injection, have been extensively used in SAH research primarily through injection methods (Megyesi et al., 2000). Primates are popular options for vasospasm research given their large size that facilities angiography (Megyesi et al., 2000) but their use is limited by availability and cost.

Even though larger animals allow for easier vasospasm measurements, mice models allow for convenient transgenic study to compare knock-out or knock-in effects on vasospasm (Sabri et al., 2011, Egashira et al., 2014, Pena Silva et al., 2014, Vergouwen et al., 2014, Chu et al., 2015, Shimada et al., 2015, Siler et al., 2015). The present study utilized a mice model primarily for the animal's potential in transgenic modeling. We used a single cisternal blood injection model that has been proven to produce a clinically relevant SAH (Lin et al., 2003, Kamp et al., 2014).

1.8 Neurobehavioral Testing in Rodents

1.8.1 Neurological Scoring Systems: Neurological scores are used in preclinical SAH studies to distinguish sensorimotor deficit in SAH animals in comparison to sham-operated animals. These scores are subject to experimental variability so a single blind observer is preferred for all data collection. While other observational behavior tests have been used in studying SAH animals (He et al., 2015a, Zhao et al., 2015, Zhou et al., 2015), the Modified Garcia Neurological Score has been most commonly used in testing severity of neurological injury in SAH animals. The Garcia score was originally developed for neurological evaluation after middle cerebral artery occlusion in a rat stroke model (Table 3) (Garcia et al., 1995). This scoring scale includes six different tests that lead to a maximum score of 18 (maximum three points per test) for each animal. The six tests include spontaneous activity, symmetry of movement of four limbs, forepaw outstretching, cage climbing, body proprioception, and vibrissae touch (Additional Details in Methods Section). A modified version of the Garcia score, which adds lateral turning to the original four sensory and two motor tests to make a 21-point scale, has also been used for evaluation of SAH rodents (Lee et al., 2008, Khatibi et al., 2011, Tso et al., 2015, Zuo et al., 2016). Studies that have used unique neurological scores have included observation of visual and tactile sensory response in addition to appetite (Milner et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2015). In recent rat studies, neurological deficits 24 hours after hemorrhage were shown with Garcia scores decreasing 27.5-30.8% between sham and SAH animals (He et al., 2015b, Teng et al., 2016). However, relative paucity of the effectiveness of the Garcia score exists in mice SAH models. Our work aims to elucidate the utility of the Garcia score in an injection model of SAH in mice. **1.8.2** Anxiety: Several testing methods exist to evaluate anxiety in rodents (Bailey and Crawley, 2009). The open field test places animals in a square chamber and observes their exploratory

behavior. If animals spend more time away from the periphery of the chamber, their behavior is considered to be anxiolytic in nature (Prut and Belzung, 2003). Elevated plus maze (EPM) is a well-established experimental paradigm used in measuring anxiety-like behavior in rodents (Rodgers and Dalvi, 1997). Animals have the option to explore open or closed lanes on an apparatus that is usually elevated about one meter off the ground (Bailey and Crawley, 2009). Anxiolytic behavior is concluded whenever animals spend more time in closed lanes because they prefer darker and more enclosed spaces. The light and dark exploration test was first developed by Crawly and Goodwin to test the anxiolytic effect of benzodiazepines (Crawley and Goodwin, 1980). This test places animals in an apparatus that has two sides: one brightly lit with transparent sides and the other painted black on all sides. A small aperture between the two sides allows for animals to go back and forth between sides. An increase in exploratory behavior by entering the lit side is interpreted as a release of exploratory inhibition (Bailey and Crawley, 2009). EPM's sturdy place in the history of anxiety-related behavior evaluation in rodents convinced our group to use this method to evaluate the anxiety in induced-SAH animals.

1.8.3 <u>Spatial Learning and Memory:</u> Navigational learning is a complex process highly relevant to survival. It requires remembering locations and routes and combining information to ultimately reach a destination. Allocentric wayfinding, or spatial navigation, involves consolidating distal visual cues that are far away from the subject to navigate (Vorhees and Williams, 2014). The hippocampus was identified decades ago for its role in forming cognitive maps (O'Keefe and Conway, 1978). Morris water maze (MWM) is the most commonly used test to investigate allocentric navigation in rodents and was developed in the early 80s (Morris, 1984). MWM uses a large tub of opaque water and an escape platform to observe navigational learning patterns in rodents.

Morris confirmed that animals do indeed use distal cues for navigation. He tested animals with platforms painted black or white to either distinguish or hide the platform, and rats tested with a black platform learned much faster than animals tested with a white platform. Those tested with a white platform whose position moved for each trial showed the poorest performance; Morris interpreted this to mean that animals need initial learning with a distal cue to learn the test. It has been shown that after rats learn platform location, they tend to start their first testing trials with thygomotaxis or swimming around the perimeter of the pool (Dalm et al., 2000). Smaller circling patterns follow thygomotaxis in order to find the platform (Hodges, 1996). Morris' following work focused on showing the role of the hippocampus in MWM. Animals with hippocampal lesions or treated with an N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist, AP5, showed severely impaired performance on MWM (Morris et al., 1982, Morris et al., 1986). Morris et al. (1986) showed how crucial hippocampal long-term-potentiation was in place learning. Many testing variations have now been crafted for MWM and testing is common in both mice and rats.

There are some problems that may be associated with using MWM in mice (Sharma et al., 2010). Stress associated with swimming is enough to alter cognitive performance on MWM; foot shock treatment in rats and the glucocorticoids that are released in response to foot shock significantly affected memory retention (de Quervain et al., 1998). Species differences do exist in mice, however the strain of mice used in the present study (C57BL/6J) has been shown to perform better on MWM than other strains (Patil et al., 2009).

1.9 Histological Studies for Neuronal Injury and Degeneration

Fields of research on neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's Disease and Parkinson's Disease provide other neuroscientific investigations with useful information about histopathological methods for neurodegeneration in animals (Yamaguchi and Shen, 2013). These fields of research are often interested in differentiating between different modes of cell death including necrosis, apoptosis, and autophagy which can be done with morphological analysis (Schweichel and Merker, 1973). Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) marks apoptotic cells while Fluoro-Jade-B reliably marks any degenerating neurons regardless of mode of death (Negoescu et al., 1996, Schmued and Hopkins, 2000).

2. Specific Aims of the Study

While our investigation utilizes a previously studied murine model of SAH (Lin et al., 2005), our study profiles behavior that has not yet been investigated in this model.

Aim 1: To test the neurocognitive deficits in a murine model of subarachnoid hemorrhage.

The purpose of the proposed study is to investigate the effect of SAH induced brain injury on neurological dysfunction, anxiety, and cognitive impairment using three behavioral testing methods frequently tested in rats, but not validated in mice. The three techniques we used to assess neurological and cognitive dysfunction in SAH mice were Garcia Neurological Score, Elevated Plus Maze, and Morris Water Maze.

Aim 2: To quantify the neuronal degeneration in the hippocampus and cortex following SAH. Histopathological outcome was evaluated by quantifying the number of degenerating neurons stained by Fluoro-Jade-C on tissue sections in the hippocampus and cortex induced by inflammation and delayed cerebral ischemia. We quantitatively measured the number of FluoroJade-C positive cells in 3 separate areas in both right and left hemispheres separately and compared the mean for each area between the sham operated and SAH induced mice.

Significance. Our results address whether or not a cisternal autologous blood injection model in mice is suited to study the neurobehavioral deficits seen in SAH. If we find deficits, this model can be used to test potential therapeutic agents to evaluate their efficacy in preclinical studies.

3. Hypothesis

Induced-SAH animals will show significant deficits in MWM and EPM performance, and worsening in Garcia Neurological Scoring as well as increased number of degenerating neurons secondary to SAH induced injury when compared to sham operated mice.

4. Methods and Materials

4.1 Animals

Six week-old C57BL/6 male mice underwent SAH induction by single cisternal blood injection or sham operation. Animals were housed in colonies of 5 animals with free access to pellet chow and water, quarantined for 1 week, and handled at least five times for 1 week to reduce experimenter induced stress before starting the experiments. Room temperature was maintained at 21–25°C and humidity was controlled at 45–50%. Mice were housed under a 12:12-h light–dark cycle that switched at 7 AM and 7 PM. All behavioural testing occured in the light phase between 9 AM and 3 PM excluding the first day of MWM which included two testing phases. All experimental animal procedures were approved by the Emory University Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC), Protocol # 2001517.

4.2 Groups

30 Animals were randomized to two groups: sham (n=15) and SAH (n=15). A total of three sets of experiments were performed over several months. Each period planned for ten mice (5 sham,

5 SAH) however some were lost during surgery (n=4), most likely through SAH induced injury and anesthetic complications, and one was lost to entrapment. Most results are based on a sample size of 25, however some only include 24 due to the timing of the entrapment incident.

4.3 Surgical Technique and Post-operative Care

A modified murine SAH model was used for this study. Surgical anesthesia was induced and maintained with ketamine/xylazine with an intraperitoneal (IP) injection, dosed at 85 mg/kg and 4 mg/kg respectively. Surgical sites were shaved and skin was prepared with povidone-iodine solution and alcohol. Eyes were applied with antibiotic ointment before surgery. Body temperature was monitored and maintained at 36.5±0.5 °C with an infrared heating lamp, controlled by rectal thermistors. Animals were positioned prone and the atlanto-occipital membrane was exposed under microscopic visualization. Animals were then placed supine for exposure of the femoral artery. Sixty µL of autologous blood were withdrawn from each animal's right femoral artery. An IP injection of normal saline solution (60 μ L) was given after blood removal. After reorienting the animal prone, the atlanto-occipital membrane was subsequently punctured and 60 µL of autologous blood were slowly injected into the cisterna magna. Sham animals received an identical procedure up until puncture to the atlanto-occipital membrane with blood injection excluded. Animals were positioned head-down at 30 degrees for 30 minutes to facilitate pooling of the blood and ensure clot formation. The neck tissue was approximated with auto-clips, and leg incisions were sutured with 4-0 nylon monofilament.

All mice undergoing SAH surgery received moistened chow on the cage floor for the first 2 days. All mice were weighed daily both pre- and post-surgery. During this handling time, they were inspected for signs of stress or pain as described by the IACUC Endpoint guidelines, such as (or in addition to) >25% loss of weight, hunched appearance, excessive eye secretions,

excessive vocalizations upon handling, bleeding from the incision site, lack of grooming, etc. Buprenorphine (0.05-0.1 mg/kg) was administered subcutaneously for postoperative pain alleviation.

4.4 Assessment of neurobehavioral outcome

Behavioral response was evaluating using the Garcia Neurological Score, Elevated Plus Maze, and Morris Water Maze. Timing of measurements is shown in <u>Table 3</u>.

BASELINE Garcia Scores EPM	<u>SURGERY</u>	<u>POD1</u>
POD2 Garcia Scores	<u>POD3</u>	<u>POD4</u>
POD5	POD6	POD7
EPM	MWM	MWM
POD8	POD9	POD10
MWM	MWM	MWM
POD11	POD12	POD13
MWM	MWM	MWM
POD14 MWM	POD15 MWM	POD16 MWM EPM (Sacrifice)

Table 3: Neurobehavioral Testing Timeline The timeline for neurobehavioral experiments was spread across 16 days and all experiments were performed on three sets of animals (30 animals ordered).

4.4.1 Garcia Neurological Score: Garcia score was used to rate animals on their basic abilities

in four motor and two sensory tests (Garcia et al., 1995). This scoring scale includes six different

tests that lead to a maximum score of 18 (maximum three points per test) for each animal. The six tests include spontaneous activity (0-3), symmetry of movement of four limbs (0-3), forepaw outstretching (0-3), cage climbing (1-3), body proprioception (1-3), and vibrissae touch (1-3). Spontaneous activity expects animals to approach all four walls of a test cage in five minutes. Symmetry of the four limbs is confirmed if holding mice by the tail produces equal power of movement across all four limbs. For forepaw outstretching, the mouse is held up by its tail and observed to walk across a surface symmetrically with just forepaws. Observing the animal's ability to climb a wire cage placed at 45 degrees to a wall assessed climbing. To assess body proprioception and vibrissae touch, a blunt object was used to prod the side body or to graze the whiskers outside of the animal's field of vision. Symmetrical and equally energetic responses are given three points. Garcia et al. have defined the circumstances for two points and one point in each test (Table 4). Testing took place one day before injury for baseline and 48 hours after injury. We chose to test quickly after hemorrhage as neurological deficits in SAH have been shown to disappear after one week (Germano et al., 2002, Jeon et al., 2009).

Table 1.

Neurological Evaluation After Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion in Wistar Rats

Test	Score			
	0	1	2	3
Spontaneous activity (in cage for 5 min)	No movement	Barely moves	Moves but does not approach at least three sides of cage	Moves and approaches at least three sides of cage
Symmetry of movements (four limbs)	Left side: no movement	Left side: slight movement	Left side: moves slowly	Both sides: move symmetrically
Symmetry of forelimbs (outstretching while held by tail)	Left side: no movement, no outreaching	Left side: slight movement to outreach	Left side: moves and outreaches less than right side	Symmetrical outreach
Climbing wall of wire cage		Fails to climb	Left side is weak	Normal climbing
Reaction to touch on either side of trunk		No response on left side	Weak response on left side	Symmetrical response
Response to vibrissae touch		No response on left side	Weak response on left side	Symmetrical response

Table 4: Garcia Neurological Score 4 motor and 2 sensory tests are done in animals to make a total maximum score of 18. Lower scores are indicative of deficit (Suzuki and Zhang 2012).

4.4.2 <u>Elevated Plus Maze (EPM)</u>: EPM evaluated anxiety in animals. A plus-shaped apparatus stood above the ground (above the MWM tub) with two opposite lanes enclosed by high walls. After animals were acclimated to the study room for about 30 minutes, each animal was allowed to explore the maze for five minutes after being dropped at the center cross. Video recordings of each animal's performance were evaluated by an observer to measure time spent in uncovered lanes. Lane entries were also counted so that a proportion of closed/open lane entries could be quantified (Komada et al., 2008). Testing was performed one day before injury for recording baseline and 5 days and 16 days after injury.

4.4.3 <u>Morris Water Maze:</u> Spatial learning was evaluated in SAH rodents using the Morris Water Maze (MWM). This technique used a circular pool of opaque water with a hidden platform available for escape. The platform is hidden because its top surface lies just below the surface of the water. Opacity of the water is controlled with pure or powdered milk (Morris, 1984, Rapp et al., 1987). Animals were tested over repeated trials to track spatial learning over time. For every MWM trial, animals had 60 seconds to successfully find the platform and had to remain on the platform for 10 seconds. Travelling patterns were recorded by labeling the pool with North, South, East, and West markers and using a video camera placed above the pool. Topscan Lite Version 2.00 tracking software (Clever Sys Inc., Reston, VA, 2000-2012) was used to compute travelling distances and velocities. A curtain was used to remove any cues from around the testing area and the same lighting environment was applied for all testing days. Animals were given 15 minutes of acclimation time to the room before any testing occurred. To quickly dry animals and avoid hypothermia, mice were placed in front of a heater in between or after trials.

The present study's MWM testing included four different phases that were chosen based on Vorhees' and Williams' protocols (Vorhees and Williams, 2006). Five hours after cued learning was performed with the assistance of a cue flag mounted to the platform, spatial acquisition phase began. During spatial acquisition, jump-offs, swim overs, and thygmotaxis were recorded in addition to escape latency. Swim overs were noted if mice did not remain on the platform at all but still swam over it and jump-offs were instances when the mice left the platform before 10 seconds was reached. Thygmotaxis was noted whenever mice traced more than a quarter of the tank's perimeter. The platform was not moved from the northeast spot during the spatial acquisition phase, however the platform was removed for a probe test to track free-swim patterns on post-operative day 11 (POD11). Video footage was used after testing to measure proportion of time spent in each quadrant. Animals who performed well on POD11 of the Morris Water Maze spent most of their time in the northeast quadrant (Morris, 1984). An annulus, or circle around the platform, was made using tracking software to also count crossings into this area surrounding the platform. Working memory was more specifically evaluated on the last five days of MWM testing as difference in latency escape time between two consecutive, identical drops served as the primary measurement. For failed trials, 60 seconds was used as an escape time to ensure appropriate statistical analysis.

MWM Phase	Days	Description	Parameters
Cued Learning	<u>POD 6</u>	8 trials (N, S, W, E, NE, NW, SE, SW)flag marker mounted on platform	Latency Failed Trials
Spatial Acquisition	<u>POD 6-10</u>	 4 trials, randomized drops platform in NE 	Latency Failed Trails Distance Velocity Thygmotaxis Swim-overs Jump-Offs
Reference Memory	<u>POD 11</u>	 1 trial Platform removed	Quadrant time Annulus Crossings
Working Memory	<u>POD 12-16</u>	 2 trials, identical drops platform randomized each day	Latency difference

 Table 5: Morris Water Maze Testing Phases After cued learning on the first testing day, three measurement phases followed.

4.5 Histopathological Study

4.5.1 <u>Transcardiac Perfusion and Harvesting of Tissue:</u> Deep anesthesia was induced with ketamine/xylazine with an IP injection of 0.1cc/10 grams body weight, or 0.2 ml of stock solution containing ketamine and xylazine, dosed at 85 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg respectively, using an insulin needle/syringe. The anesthesia level was monitored by response to toe pinch following

anesthesia. Incision was made through the sternum and the rib cage was lifted to expose the heart. The heart was released from the surrounding tissue and the rib cage was held back with hemostats. Animals were perfused with a 0.1M Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) using a 23 Gauge needle and infusion set pierced through the left lateral ventricle diagonally into the ascending aorta. An incision was made in the right atrium to allow the fluid to flow through. 20mL of 0.1M PBS (Phosphate buffered saline) to clear the blood from the animal followed by 50mL of 4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 0.1 mol/L phosphate-buffered saline were perfused. Upon completion of the perfusion the animal was decapitated and the brain tissue was removed.

4.5.2 Fluoro-Jade-C staining for quantification of degenerating neurons: Harvested brains were placed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight before being transferred to 10%, 20%, and then 30% sucrose solutions successively until all the tissues equilibrated. Brains were frozen by submerging them in methylbutane surrounded by dry ice. The tissues were then stored at -80 °C freezer until processing. Tissue samples were then embedded in OCT Tissue Tek compound, and coronal slices (10 μ m) of the hippocampus were then cryosectioned using a cryostat. Slices 1.58-2.54 mm posterior to the bregma were used for staining of the hippocampus and cortex (Franklin and Paxinos). Franklin and Paxinos' stereotaxic atlas was used to confirm presence of both regions.

Fluoro-Jade C staining was done to identify degenerating neurons in the hippocampus and cortex of each section. For Fluoro-Jade-C staining, a modified version of Zhang et al.'s protocol was used (Zhang et al., 2012). Briefly, slides were immersed in a basic alcohol solution for 5 minutes before being transferred to 70% ethanol and distilled water for two minutes each. Incubation in potassium permanganate solution followed for 15 minutes and then slides were rinsed in distilled water for three one minute washes. Slides were then incubated in acidic Fluoro-Jade-C solution

for thirty minutes. Slides were then dried for five minutes before being cleaned in xylene for up to five minutes. Slides were coverslipped using DPX mounting medium and clear nail polish. An Axioskop 2 epifluorescence microscope was used with Axiovision 4.8.1 software to capture images of stained neurons. Images were taken at 20X magnification and three pictures of each side of the hippocampus and cortex were used to take the average for each side of both regions. ImageJ software was used to count positively stained degenerated neurons. Slides' animal IDs were taped over and coded for blinded microscopy and counting.

4.6 Statistics

All data were analyzed with IBM SPSS 23.0 software. All results were expressed as mean \pm SEM. All behavioral data was analyzed using repeated measures ANOVA for within-subjects and between-subjects comparisons, and Independent Samples T-Test was used for individual comparisons for each testing date. The criterion for statistical significance was set at *p*<0.05.

5. Results

5.1 Sensory and motor ability unaffected by single injection SAH injury

When animals were scored two days after surgery, Garcia scores were not significantly different between sham animals and SAH animals (<u>Table 6</u>). All animals received maximum scores of three points for all testing categories except vibrissae touch and side-body reaction.

Total Garcia Neurological Scores POD2		<i>P</i> value
Sham (n = 13)	SAH (n = 13)	0.54, NS
16.69±0.26	16.92±0.26	

Table 6: Garcia Neurological Score Results A deficit in SAH animals was not found based on
 Garcia Scoring

5.2 Lack of anxiety-associated behavior in SAH animals

EPM data showed no difference in anxiety between sham and SAH animals. Proportion of covered entries and time spent in uncovered lanes were not significantly increased, as hypothesized, in SAH animals. Proportion of covered entries in EPM was slightly higher in sham animals on both POD5 and POD16. This difference was more dramatic for sham animals 16 days after surgery (POD5 p=0.555, POD16 p=0.074). For the time spent in uncovered arms measurement, the difference between sham and SAH animals was, on the other hand, contrasting 5 days post-surgery (n=25) and 16 days post-surgery (n=24)(Figure 2)(p=0.742 and p=0.838, respectively). SAH animals spent less time than sham animals in uncovered arms on POD5, but this relationship reversed on POD16. SAH animals spent more time in uncovered regions on POD16 though without statistically significant difference from sham animals.



Figure 1: Covered Arm Entries in EPM Animal groups did not significantly differ in percent of covered lane entries in EPM (*p*>0.05, sham vs. SAH t-test for each day). Trend for significance was found between sham and SAH animals on POD16 (*p*=0.074).



Figure 2: Time spent in Open Arms EPM data showed no significant difference between sham and SAH animals based on time spent in open lanes (*p*>0.05, sham vs. SAH t-test for each day).

5.3 Spatial and Working Memory in MWM

Both the cued learning and the spatial acquisition testing periods found no difference in mean escape times between both animal groups. However, SAH animals did show increased escape times compared to sham animals on four of the five spatial acquisition testing days (Figure 3). The starkest differences can be seen on POD6 and POD10 but no significance was found based on t-tests performed for each day. Velocity was significantly decreased in SAH animals on POD6 (p=0.029)(Figure 4).

Probe-test performed on POD11 found that SAH animals did not preferentially spend more time in any of the four quadrants when compared to sham animals. Annulus crossings also did not significantly differ between the two animal groups (p=0.88)(Figure 5 & Table 7).

Working memory testing from POD12-POD16 found significant difference between animal groups in saved escape latency only on POD12 (p=0.049). SAH animals on average saved more time between their first and second escape latencies than their sham counterparts. No

clear trend between the two animal groups was shown based on saved escape latencies (Figure 6).



Figure 3: Spatial Acquisition Phase Escape Time With the platform kept in the northeast quadrant for five testing days, mice in both animal groups did not show contrasting abilities to find the hidden platform (p>0.05, Sham vs. SAH t-test for each day)([POD6] n_{sham} = 13, n_{SAH} = 12, [POD7-10] n_{sham} = 12, n_{SAH} = 12). SAH animals did however show an increased escape time average on all testing days except for POD8.



Figure 4: Spatial Acquisition Velocity SAH animals were significantly slower in their swimming patterns on POD6, the first day of testing, while showing no strong difference on

any other testing days ([*POD6*] p<0.05, [*POD7-10*] p>0.05, Sham vs. SAH t-test for each day)([*POD6*] n_{sham} = 13, n_{SAH} = 12, [*POD7-10*] n_{sham} = 12, n_{SAH} = 12)..



Figure 5: MWM Probe Test Removing the NE platform and observing swimming patterns did not reveal a deficit in SAH animals (*p*>0.05, Sham vs. SAH t-test for each region). They spent nearly equal amounts of time swimming in the NE quadrant (about a third of the testing time period).

Annulus Crossings in MWM Probe Test			
Sham (n = 12)	SAH (n = 12)	P value	
5.25±0.71	5.42±0.79	0.88, NS	

Table 7: MWM Probe Test Annulus Crossings Removing the NE platform and observing swimming patterns did not reveal a deficit in SAH animals. When a circular zone was created and placed around the platform using tracking software, entries into this annulus could be counted. Hemorrhage animals did not enter the annulus on significantly fewer instances than sham animals.



Figure 6: Saved Escape Time MWM Working Memory Testing SAH animals showed relatively enhanced working memory on POD12 (*p*<0.05, [*POD13-16*] p>0.05, Sham vs. SAH t-test for each day). They only showed a deficit on POD14 that was not significantly different from sham animals.

5.4 Neurodegeneration – Fluoro-Jade-C Staining

Histological study with Fluoro-Jade-C staining for degenerating neurons did not elucidate differences between SAH and sham animals. Hippocampal and cortical tissue were analyzed for both hemispheres separately (Figure 7). While a difference between animal groups were not found in any of the regions, significantly more cortical damage was found in animals overall. Figure 8 shows four representative images from the staining procedure.



Figure 7: Neurodegeneration in SAH While a difference in degenerating neurons between sham and SAH animals was not found with Fluoro-Jade-C staining, enhanced cortical damage was found in all animals compared to hippocampal neurons (*p*>0.05, Sham vs. SAH separately for each side of each region).



Figure 8: FJC Staining Images (20X magnification) Fluoro-Jade-C stained cortex and hippocampal tissues. While more Fluoro-Jade-C (+) cells were found in SAH animals, the difference was not significant (*p*>0.05, Sham vs. SAH for left and right sides of each region). Cortical damage was enhanced compared to hippocampal tissue in all animals.

6. Discussion

6.1 Summary

The current study investigated cognitive, functional and histopathological outcome in a cisterna magna single blood injection model of SAH in mice. Three sets of experiments were performed and results were collected for 25 animals in total (Sham=13, SAH=12). Sensory and motor function was measured with the Garcia Neurological Scoring system. Anxiety was evaluated with Elevated Plus Maze test and spatial/working memory was evaluated with Morris Water Maze. Fluorescence staining with Fluoro-Jade-C followed all the experimentation to conclude whether neurodegeneration differed between animal groups (sham=8, SAH=8). SAH induced injury in our animal model of SAH did not induce significant deficits in Garcia Neurological Score evaluated at 48 hours post-injury or Elevated Plus Maze evaluated 5 and 16 days postinjury. An anxiolytic effect was however close to being significant on POD16 closed-arm entry data (p=0.074). A relatively anxiolytic relationship can be seen on POD16 in both EPM measurements since SAH animals had a smaller proportion of covered arm entries and spent more time in open arms compared to sham animals. However, this relationship is not supported by significant statistical analysis. Significant findings from Morris Water Maze data were also sparse. SAH animals swam significantly slower than sham animals on the first day of spatial acquisition testing but the four other testing days for this period did not show any significant differences. SAH animals showed enhanced working memory compared to sham animals on POD12 in the last phase of Morris Water Maze testing; this significance was similarly only shown on the first day of the testing phase. Degeneration of neurons was quantified in hippocampal and cortical tissue of the tested animals; significant differences between animal

groups were not found however cortical damage was enhanced compared to hippocampal damage in all animals.

6.2 In the Field: SAH Rodent Research

6.2.1 <u>Neurological Score</u>: Sprague-Dawley rats subjected to both endovascular perforation and prechiasmatic cistern injection have recently been shown to have reduced Garcia neurological scores compared to sham animals (He et al., 2015b, Zuo et al., 2015, Teng et al., 2016). Mice subjected to perforation of the right anterior cerebral artery showed motor and sensory deficit with another scoring method (McGirt et al., 2002). The only study on mice using Garcia neurological score found deficits in SAH animals from prechiasmatic injection of donor blood at a larger volume (80 μ L)(Tso et al., 2015). In our study, the most variability found in neurological deficit came from vibrissae and side-body tests, however significant deficit in SAH animals was not found in either of these tests nor with any of the other subcategories.

In general, the Garcia Neurological Score has been much more thoroughly used in ischemic stroke animal research (Shmonin et al., 2014). Within ischemic stroke animal research, it has also been shown to not be as sensitive as other measures for neurological deficit. Automated open field analysis was more sensitive to deficit than Garcia Neurological Score in one study (Desland et al., 2014). Ischemic stroke animals produce more sensory and motor deficits than SAH animals that Garcia neurological score is sensitive to measuring. Focal ischemic stroke models in particular produce significant motor deficits in limbs contralateral to infarcts (Liu et al., 2014, Zhang et al., 2015).

The difference in disease severity between ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke could serve as an explanation for the lack of significance found in our study. SAH mice may simply not produce significant enough deficit that can be found with our study's neurological assessment in the same way that rats do. Milner et al. showed that an endovascular perforation SAH model of mice showed mild but significant neurological deficit with a neuroscore including balance, visual response, and tactile response in addition to the categories of Garcia neurological score. Our study's model may also not be severe enough compared to endovascular perforation. In a Huntington's Disease preclinical study, mice showed enhanced resilience to striatal degeneration with 3-nitropropionic treatment compared to more vulnerable rats (Alexi et al., 1998). Tso et al.'s prechiasmatic injection mice model involved a different surgical procedure, using burr holes and cerebral blood flow monitoring, and also used donor instead of autologous blood. Our study's surgical method may have also overwhelmed animals overall, hiding any differences between animal groups. High neurodegeneration found in sham animals supports this explanation.

Given that motor deficits are not found as commonly as cognitive deficits in SAH patients, Garcia Neurological Score may not be the best measurement of neurological deficit in hemorrhagic stroke research. An endovascular perforation rat model showed no significant motor deficit up to three weeks after surgery (Silasi and Colbourne, 2009). The test was reported to be effective up to 72 hours after hemorrhage in SAH rats, however, it hasn't been as widely studied in mice (Suzuki and Zhang, 2012). As mice have been shown to recover faster than rats, we chose our testing point to be 48 hours but without finding any deficits. Further studies at earlier time points such as 24 hours can clarify Garcia neurological score's role in hemorrhagic stroke research in cisternal blood injection models of SAH in mice. SAH's common symptoms of nausea, headache, and dizziness also point to behavioral tests looking at balance (CatWalk) as more relevant for measuring neurological deficit (Ahn and Balaban, 2010).

6.2.2 <u>Anxiety:</u> Anxiety has not been studied thoroughly in preclinical hemorrhagic stroke research. Boyko et al.'s study evaluated anxiety using open field test and elevated plus maze in

single and double hemorrhagic rats three weeks after SAH (Boyko et al., 2013). Open field results consistently suggested that double hemorrhagic animals were significantly more anxious than control and single hemorrhagic animals. However, EPM results showed that single hemorrhagic animals were most anxious out of three animal groups based on time spent in open arms and closed arm entries. Double hemorrhagic animals were similar to control animals in EPM results of this study. Sasaki et al.'s study also used EPM to compare prechiasmatic blood model rats to double hemorrhagic cisterna magna injection model rats (Sasaki et al., 2016). Testing was done 20 days after hemorrhage, closely lining up with the Boyko et al.'s method. In this study, prechiasmatic blood injection animals exhibited decreased anxiety in EPM while double injection animals exhibited increased anxiety-related behavior. EPM results between Boyko et al.'s and Sasaki et al.'s studies are thus opposite in nature. The mentioned studies have both been done in rats. Mice, on the other hand, have rarely been investigated for anxiety in SAH. Our study most closely aligns with Sasaki et al.'s work showing an anxiolytic effect of single hemorrhagic stroke developing more than two weeks after hemorrhage. Significance may have been found in our study if measurements were taken past sixteen days after surgery or we had a bigger cohort of animals because an anxiolytic effect of SAH was close to being significant (p=0.074) on POD16 closed arm entries. Enhanced anxiety has been shown to persist in humans up to 12 months after stroke so elongated study is warranted in preclinical hemorrhagic stroke studies evaluating anxiety-related behavior (Latimer et al., 2013). Our study is the first one to assess anxiety using EPM in a mouse model of SAH.

6.2.3 <u>Spatial Memory and Learning:</u> Memory evaluation in SAH using Morris Water Maze (MWM) has been done almost solely in rats. MWM has been studied in both endovascular perforation (EP) and cisterna magna injection models of rats. Most of these studies involve

testing a treatment group for ameliorative, anti-inflammatory effects, however some involve identifying exacerbative contributors to disease severity. Even though the mentioned studies involve various treatments, they also involve sham and SAH without treatment animal groups that allow for appropriate comparison to the present study.

EP rat studies of SAH show reproducible dysfunction in SAH animals when compared to their sham counterparts. An EP rat model showed disrupted performance based on increased latency and swimming distance in SAH animals whenever the platform was moved to a new location after remaining in one spot for two days of testing (Silasi and Colbourne, 2009). In Silasi and Colbourne's study, increased cognitive load was necessary for a difference between animal groups to be shown. Initial MWM testing with the platform's first location did not show disrupted spatial learning. In Xie et al.'s study, EP SAH rats also showed impaired spatial reference memory functioning; they showed fewer appropriate platform crossings after the platform was removed in addition to increased latency and swim distance in SAH animals compared to control sham animals (Xie et al., 2015). Similar findings including increased latency and swimming distance in SAH animals compared to controls were also found in Hu et al.'s study that tested for improvement with hyperbaric oxygen (Hu et al., 2014). Milner et al.'s study, the only one that has tested MWM in SAH mice to date, found no significant difference in performance between SAH induced mice and controls in an EP model of SAH (Milner et al., 2014).

Disrupted spatial learning in SAH has been shown through MWM testing in many studies that used a prechiasmatic cistern injection model in rats (Takata et al., 2008, Jeon et al., 2010, Chen et al., 2013, Dong et al., 2013, Sun et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2014, Liu et al., 2015, Shen et al., 2015). All of the nine mentioned studies showed significantly increased escape latencies and swimming distances in their SAH animals in comparison to sham controls. Four of the studies were able to show specific impairment in spatial working memory in SAH animals based on saved time between two trials (Jeon et al., 2010, Chen et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2014). The four studies showed that SAH rats with prechiasmatic blood injection did not find the platform as quickly on the second trial as sham controls did. A few of these studies used swimming speed as a measurement for MWM performance and their results are not in agreement. Takata et al.'s found increased speed in SAH animals while Shen at al.'s study and Jeon et al.'s study found no difference between animal groups (Takata et al., 2008, Jeon et al., 2010, Shen et al., 2015)

The present study is the first to evaluate outcomes of MWM in a cisternal blood injection mice model of SAH and the second to do any MWM testing in SAH mice. We expected to find both increased escape latency and swimming distance in SAH animals when compared to sham controls as these two observations have been so consistently shown in SAH blood injection models of rats. Instead, Milner et al.'s study that failed to show a deficit in EP SAH mice performing MWM most closely aligns with the results from our study. Significant findings from our MWM data only include decreased velocity on one of five testing days during the spatial acquisition period and unusually enhanced working memory based on a quicker average escape latency in SAH animals on the first day of the working memory testing phase. These significant results do not suggest that our mouse model of SAH produced relevant deficit in spatial learning and memory and thus disprove our study's hypothesis.

Velocity in MWM is commonly interpreted as a motor ability measurement whereas escape latency and swimming distance are interpreted as reliable measurements for spatial learning and memory (Shen et al., 2015). While significantly reduced velocity in SAH mice on our first day of spatial acquisition testing could suggest enhanced motor deficit in SAH mice, this significant finding is not supported by deficits in the motor tests of the Garcia neurological score. POD6, the day on which this significant finding was found, also included cued learning testing five hours before spatial acquisition testing, so sheer exhaustion can explain decreased velocities in SAH animals on POD6 that were not found POD7-POD10. The highly unexpected enhanced working memory in SAH animals on the first day of the working memory testing phase is difficult to explain but our experimental paradigm could rationalize the significant findings. POD12 involved the first testing day with the platform moved from its northeastern position since POD6, so novelty on this testing day may have skewed results. As SAH animals showed somewhat anxiolytic behavior on POD16, perhaps less anxious states during a new MWM testing paradigm contributed to better performance compared to sham animals that simply disappeared POD13-POD16. However, the extensive variability in performance during the working memory testing phase suggests that significant findings are not particularly strong.

Failure to show deficit in MWM in our study decreases the cisterna magna blood injection mice model's relevance in SAH preclinical research. Combined with Milner et al.'s results, our study generally suggests that rats are better than mice at displaying significant neurocognitive deficit in SAH.

6.2.4 <u>Neuronal Degeneration in SAH mice:</u> In SAH preclinical research, disruptions to neuronal viability are often measured and correlated with impaired performance on behavior tests. Takata et al.'s 2008 study was able to correlate CA1 hippocampal neuron loss with disrupted performance on MWM (Takata et al., 2008). Fluoro-Jade-B (FJB) is an older version of the staining compound used in the present study that has been used on several occasions to measure cell death in SAH rodents. Silasi and Colbourne found FJB positive cells in the orbital

as well as cingulate prefrontal regions of SAH rats but they did not compare these findings with sham animals. Other groups were able to show significantly enhanced cell death using FJB in either the cortex, hippocampus, or cerebellum in cisterna magna blood injection SAH rats (Jeon et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2014, Liu et al., 2015). Other staining methods have been used in SAH preclinical research to measure cell death. Dong et al. stained for caspase-3 expression indicating apoptosis and found significantly increased caspase-3 expression in the hippocampus of SAH rats compared to vehicle controls (Dong et al., 2013).

Our study ultimately aimed to find cell death in the hippocampus that would correlate with disrupted performance in MWM. Performance on MWM was not disrupted in SAH animals and significantly different neurodegeneration was not found between the present study's two animal groups. FJC staining only showed overall cortical neuronal degeneration to be enhanced compared to hippocampal cell death in both animal groups. We theorize that enhanced cell death occurred in cortical injuries simply because cortical cells are anatomically closer to the injury site for surgery as well as the cortical inflammation that has been shown to be induced by the presence of blood in the subarachnoid space (Kooijman et al., 2014). Our findings similarly line up with Milner et al.'s work. Milner et al. used cresyl violet staining to visualize CA1 hippocampal neurons. Counting showed that intact neurons did not differ between SAH mice and controls (Milner et al., 2014). Jeon et al.'s work with cisterna magna injection rats also showed similar results to our study in that the cortex was shown to have the most neurodegeneration in comparison to the hippocampus and cerebellum, however this trend was shown in SAH animals only and not sham controls (Jeon et al., 2010). While cell death has been shown in SAH preclinical studies with rats, mice studies have failed to show cell death in SAH. This may represent an enhanced resilience in mice compared to rats or a need for more severe SAH models

in mice. Since reactive astrocytes have been previously found to be increased in SAH animals, our lab plans to investigate the astrocyte profile of SAH mice (Adelson et al., 2001).

7. Conclusion

In the present study, significant deficit was not found in a murine blood injection model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Comparisons between sham operated and SAH animals using the Garcia Neurological Score, Elevated Plus Maze, and Morris Water Maze did not show impairment in SAH animals. Neuronal degeneration marked by Fluoro-Jade-C staining also did not elucidate a significant difference between animal groups. Future preclinical study in SAH animals should focus on testing in rats or arterial puncture models of mice since these models show clinically relevant disruption to neurological and behavioral functioning.

REFERENCES

- Adelson PD, Jenkins LW, Hamilton RL, Robichaud P, Tran MP, Kochanek PM (2001) Histopathologic response of the immature rat to diffuse traumatic brain injury. Journal of neurotrauma 18:967-976.
- Ahn SK, Balaban CD (2010) Distribution of 5-HT1B and 5-HT1D receptors in the inner ear. Brain research 1346:92-101.
- Al-Khindi T, Macdonald RL, Schweizer TA (2010) Cognitive and functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 41:e519-536.
- Alexi T, Hughes PE, Knusel B, Tobin AJ (1998) Metabolic compromise with systemic 3nitropropionic acid produces striatal apoptosis in Sprague-Dawley rats but not in BALB/c ByJ mice. Experimental neurology 153:74-93.
- Algra AM, Klijn CJ, Helmerhorst FM, Algra A, Rinkel GJ (2012) Female risk factors for subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review. Neurology 79:1230-1236.
- Andreasen TH, Bartek J, Jr., Andresen M, Springborg JB, Romner B (2013) Modifiable risk factors for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 44:3607-3612.
- Ascenzi P, Bocedi A, Visca P, Altruda F, Tolosano E, Beringhelli T, Fasano M (2005) Hemoglobin and heme scavenging. IUBMB Life 57:749-759.
- Bailey KR, Crawley JN (2009) Anxiety-Related Behaviors in Mice. In: Methods of Behavior Analysis in Neuroscience (Buccafusco, J. J., ed) Boca Raton (FL).
- Barry KJ, Gogjian MA, Stein BM (1979) Small animal model for investigation of subarachnoid hemorrhage and cerebral vasospasm. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 10:538-541.
- Bederson JB, Germano IM, Guarino L (1995) Cortical blood flow and cerebral perfusion pressure in a new noncraniotomy model of subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rat. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 26:1086-1091; discussion 1091-1082.
- Bonita R (1986) Cigarette smoking, hypertension and the risk of subarachnoid hemorrhage: a population-based case-control study. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 17:831-835.
- Bonita R, Beaglehole R (1988) Recovery of motor function after stroke. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 19:1497-1500.
- Boyko M, Azab AN, Kuts R, Gruenbaum BF, Gruenbaum SE, Melamed I, Brotfain E, Shapira Y, Cesnulis E, Zlotnik A (2013) The neuro-behavioral profile in rats after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Brain research 1491:109-116.
- Brazier JE, Harper R, Jones NM, O'Cathain A, Thomas KJ, Usherwood T, Westlake L (1992) Validating the SF-36 health survey questionnaire: new outcome measure for primary care. BMJ 305:160-164.
- Broderick JP, Brott T, Tomsick T, Huster G, Miller R (1992) The risk of subarachnoid and intracerebral hemorrhages in blacks as compared with whites. The New England journal of medicine 326:733-736.
- Budohoski KP, Guilfoyle M, Helmy A, Huuskonen T, Czosnyka M, Kirollos R, Menon DK, Pickard JD, Kirkpatrick PJ (2014) The pathophysiology and treatment of delayed cerebral ischaemia following subarachnoid haemorrhage. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry 85:1343-1353.

- Chan RC, Durity FA, Thompson GB, Nugent RA, Kendall M (1984) The role of the prostacyclin-thromboxane system in cerebral vasospasm following induced subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rabbit. Journal of neurosurgery 61:1120-1128.
- Chen G, Li Q, Feng D, Hu T, Fang Q, Wang Z (2013) Expression of NR2B in different brain regions and effect of NR2B antagonism on learning deficits after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neuroscience 231:136-144.
- Chu Y, Wilson K, Gu H, Wegman-Points L, Dooley SA, Pierce GL, Cheng G, Pena Silva RA, Heistad DD, Hasan D (2015) Myeloperoxidase is increased in human cerebral aneurysms and increases formation and rupture of cerebral aneurysms in mice. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 46:1651-1656.
- Connolly ES, Jr., Rabinstein AA, Carhuapoma JR, Derdeyn CP, Dion J, Higashida RT, Hoh BL, Kirkness CJ, Naidech AM, Ogilvy CS, Patel AB, Thompson BG, Vespa P, American Heart Association Stroke C, Council on Cardiovascular R, Intervention, Council on Cardiovascular N, Council on Cardiovascular S, Anesthesia, Council on Clinical C (2012) Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/american Stroke Association. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 43:1711-1737.
- Crawley J, Goodwin FK (1980) Preliminary report of a simple animal behavior model for the anxiolytic effects of benzodiazepines. Pharmacology, biochemistry, and behavior 13:167-170.
- Dalm S, Grootendorst J, de Kloet ER, Oitzl MS (2000) Quantification of swim patterns in the Morris water maze. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput 32:134-139.
- de Quervain DJ, Roozendaal B, McGaugh JL (1998) Stress and glucocorticoids impair retrieval of long-term spatial memory. Nature 394:787-790.
- Delgado TJ, Brismar J, Svendgaard NA (1985) Subarachnoid haemorrhage in the rat: angiography and fluorescence microscopy of the major cerebral arteries. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 16:595-602.
- Desland FA, Afzal A, Warraich Z, Mocco J (2014) Manual versus Automated Rodent Behavioral Assessment: Comparing Efficacy and Ease of Bederson and Garcia Neurological Deficit Scores to an Open Field Video-Tracking System. J Cent Nerv Syst Dis 6:7-14.
- Dietrich HH, Dacey RG, Jr. (2000) Molecular keys to the problems of cerebral vasospasm. Neurosurgery 46:517-530.
- Dong Y, Li Y, Feng D, Wang J, Wen H, Liu D, Zhao D, Liu H, Gao G, Yin Z, Qin H (2013) Protective effect of HIF-1alpha against hippocampal apoptosis and cognitive dysfunction in an experimental rat model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Brain research 1517:114-121.
- Egashira Y, Hua Y, Keep RF, Xi G (2014) Acute white matter injury after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: potential role of lipocalin 2. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 45:2141-2143.
- Feigin VL, Lawes CM, Bennett DA, Barker-Collo SL, Parag V (2009) Worldwide stroke incidence and early case fatality reported in 56 population-based studies: a systematic review. Lancet Neurol 8:355-369.
- Franklin KBJ, Paxinos G The mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates.

- Frijns CJ, Fijnheer R, Algra A, van Mourik JA, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ (2006) Early circulating levels of endothelial cell activation markers in aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: associations with cerebral ischaemic events and outcome. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry 77:77-83.
- Gaetani P, Lombardi D (1992) Brain damage following subarachnoid hemorrhage: the imbalance between anti-oxidant systems and lipid peroxidative processes. J Neurosurg Sci 36:1-10.
- Gaetani P, Pasqualin A, Rodriguez y Baena R, Borasio E, Marzatico F (1998) Oxidative stress in the human brain after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Journal of neurosurgery 89:748-754.
- Gallia GL, Tamargo RJ (2006) Leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in chronic vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurological research 28:750-758.
- Garcia JH, Wagner S, Liu KF, Hu XJ (1995) Neurological deficit and extent of neuronal necrosis attributable to middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. Statistical validation. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 26:627-634; discussion 635.
- Garfinkle AM, Danys IR, Nicolle DA, Colohan AR, Brem S (1992) Terson's syndrome: a reversible cause of blindness following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Journal of neurosurgery 76:766-771.
- Germano A, Costa C, DeFord SM, Angileri FF, Arcadi F, Pike BR, Bramanti P, Bausano B, Zhao X, Day AL, Anderson DK, Hayes RL (2002) Systemic administration of a calpain inhibitor reduces behavioral deficits and blood-brain barrier permeability changes after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rat. Journal of neurotrauma 19:887-896.
- Germano A, d'Avella D, Imperatore C, Caruso G, Tomasello F (2000) Time-course of bloodbrain barrier permeability changes after experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta neurochirurgica 142:575-580; discussion 580-571.
- Graeff FG, Netto CF, Zangrossi H, Jr. (1998) The elevated T-maze as an experimental model of anxiety. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews 23:237-246.
- Gules I, Satoh M, Clower BR, Nanda A, Zhang JH (2002) Comparison of three rat models of cerebral vasospasm. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology 283:H2551-2559.
- Hasan D, Vermeulen M, Wijdicks EF, Hijdra A, van Gijn J (1989) Management problems in acute hydrocephalus after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 20:747-753.
- He J, Liu M, Liu Z, Luo L (2015a) Recombinant osteopontin attenuates experimental cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats through an anti-apoptotic mechanism. Brain research 1611:74-83.
- He Y, Xu L, Li B, Guo ZN, Hu Q, Guo Z, Tang J, Chen Y, Zhang Y, Tang J, Zhang JH (2015b) Macrophage-Inducible C-Type Lectin/Spleen Tyrosine Kinase Signaling Pathway Contributes to Neuroinflammation After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Rats. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 46:2277-2286.
- Hodges H (1996) Maze procedures: the radial-arm and water maze compared. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res 3:167-181.
- Hop JW, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, van Gijn J (1997) Case-fatality rates and functional outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 28:660-664.

- Hop JW, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, van Gijn J (1998) Quality of life in patients and partners after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 29:798-804.
- Hop JW, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, van Gijn J (2001) Changes in functional outcome and quality of life in patients and caregivers after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Journal of neurosurgery 95:957-963.
- Hu Q, Vakhmjanin A, Li B, Tang J, Zhang JH (2014) Hyperbaric oxygen therapy fails to reduce hydrocephalus formation following subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Medical gas research 4:12.
- Ikeda K, Asakura H, Futami K, Yamashita J (1997) Coagulative and fibrinolytic activation in cerebrospinal fluid and plasma after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 41:344-349; discussion 349-350.
- Ingall T, Asplund K, Mahonen M, Bonita R (2000) A multinational comparison of subarachnoid hemorrhage epidemiology in the WHO MONICA stroke study. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 31:1054-1061.
- Ingall TJ, Whisnant JP, Wiebers DO, O'Fallon WM (1989) Has there been a decline in subarachnoid hemorrhage mortality? Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 20:718-724.
- Jackowski A, Crockard A, Burnstock G, Russell RR, Kristek F (1990) The time course of intracranial pathophysiological changes following experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage in the rat. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 10:835-849.
- Jaja BN, Attalla D, Macdonald RL, Schweizer TA, Cusimano MD, Etminan N, Hanggi D, Hasan D, Johnston SC, Le Roux P, Lo B, Louffat-Olivares A, Mayer S, Molyneux A, Noble A, Quinn A, Schenk T, Spears J, Singh J, Todd M, Torner J, Tseng M, van den Bergh W, Vergouwen MD, Wong GK (2014) The Subarachnoid Hemorrhage International Trialists (SAHIT) Repository: advancing clinical research in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocritical care 21:551-559.
- Jeon H, Ai J, Sabri M, Tariq A, Macdonald RL (2010) Learning deficits after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Neuroscience 169:1805-1814.
- Jeon H, Ai J, Sabri M, Tariq A, Shang X, Chen G, Macdonald RL (2009) Neurological and neurobehavioral assessment of experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. BMC neuroscience 10:103.
- Juvela S, Hillbom M, Numminen H, Koskinen P (1993) Cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption as risk factors for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 24:639-646.
- Kamezaki T, Yanaka K, Nagase S, Fujita K, Kato N, Nose T (2002) Increased levels of lipid peroxides as predictive of symptomatic vasospasm and poor outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Journal of neurosurgery 97:1302-1305.
- Kamp MA, Dibue M, Sommer C, Steiger HJ, Schneider T, Hanggi D (2014) Evaluation of a murine single-blood-injection SAH model. PloS one 9:e114946.
- Kassell NF, Torner JC, Haley EC, Jr., Jane JA, Adams HP, Kongable GL (1990) The International Cooperative Study on the Timing of Aneurysm Surgery. Part 1: Overall management results. Journal of neurosurgery 73:18-36.

- Khatibi NH, Ma Q, Rolland W, Ostrowski R, Fathali N, Martin R, Applegate R, Stier G, Tang J, Zhang JH (2011) Isoflurane posttreatment reduces brain injury after an intracerebral hemorrhagic stroke in mice. Anesth Analg 113:343-348.
- Knekt P, Reunanen A, Aho K, Heliovaara M, Rissanen A, Aromaa A, Impivaara O (1991) Risk factors for subarachnoid hemorrhage in a longitudinal population study. J Clin Epidemiol 44:933-939.
- Komada M, Takao K, Miyakawa T (2008) Elevated plus maze for mice. Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE.
- Kooijman E, Nijboer CH, van Velthoven CT, Mol W, Dijkhuizen RM, Kesecioglu J, Heijnen CJ (2014) Long-term functional consequences and ongoing cerebral inflammation after subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rat. PloS one 9:e90584.
- Labovitz DL, Halim AX, Brent B, Boden-Albala B, Hauser WA, Sacco RL (2006) Subarachnoid hemorrhage incidence among Whites, Blacks and Caribbean Hispanics: the Northern Manhattan Study. Neuroepidemiology 26:147-150.
- Latimer SF, Wilson FC, McCusker CG, Caldwell SB, Rennie I (2013) Subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH): long-term cognitive outcome in patients treated with surgical clipping or endovascular coiling. Disabil Rehabil 35:845-850.
- Leblanc R (1987) The minor leak preceding subarachnoid hemorrhage. Journal of neurosurgery 66:35-39.
- Lee S, Stier G, Marcantonio S, Lekic T, Allard M, Martin R, Zhang J (2008) 3% hypertonic saline following subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Acta Neurochir Suppl 102:405-408.
- Lin CL, Calisaneller T, Ukita N, Dumont AS, Kassell NF, Lee KS (2003) A murine model of subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced cerebral vasospasm. Journal of neuroscience methods 123:89-97.
- Lin CL, Dumont AS, Calisaneller T, Kwan AL, Hwong SL, Lee KS (2005) Monoclonal antibody against E selectin attenuates subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced cerebral vasospasm. Surg Neurol 64:201-205; discussion 205-206.
- Liu Y, Qiu J, Wang Z, You W, Wu L, Ji C, Chen G (2015) Dimethylfumarate alleviates early brain injury and secondary cognitive deficits after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage via activation of Keap1-Nrf2-ARE system. Journal of neurosurgery 123:915-923.
- Liu Z, Li Y, Cui Y, Roberts C, Lu M, Wilhelmsson U, Pekny M, Chopp M (2014) Beneficial effects of gfap/vimentin reactive astrocytes for axonal remodeling and motor behavioral recovery in mice after stroke. Glia 62:2022-2033.
- Longstreth WT, Jr., Nelson LM, Koepsell TD, van Belle G (1992) Cigarette smoking, alcohol use, and subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 23:1242-1249.
- Macdonald RL (2014) Delayed neurological deterioration after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Nature reviews Neurology 10:44-58.
- Marzatico F, Gaetani P, Rodriguez y Baena R, Silvani V, Paoletti P, Benzi G (1988) Bioenergetics of different brain areas after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 19:378-384.
- Mayberg MR, Batjer HH, Dacey R, Diringer M, Haley EC, Heros RC, Sternau LL, Torner J, Adams HP, Jr., Feinberg W, et al. (1994) Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. A statement for healthcare professionals

from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 25:2315-2328.

- Mayer SA, Kreiter KT, Copeland D, Bernardini GL, Bates JE, Peery S, Claassen J, Du YE, Connolly ES, Jr. (2002) Global and domain-specific cognitive impairment and outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 59:1750-1758.
- McGirt MJ, Parra A, Sheng H, Higuchi Y, Oury TD, Laskowitz DT, Pearlstein RD, Warner DS (2002) Attenuation of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage in mice overexpressing extracellular superoxide dismutase. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 33:2317-2323.
- Meguro T, Clower BR, Carpenter R, Parent AD, Zhang JH (2001) Improved rat model for cerebral vasospasm studies. Neurological research 23:761-766.
- Megyesi JF, Vollrath B, Cook DA, Findlay JM (2000) In vivo animal models of cerebral vasospasm: a review. Neurosurgery 46:448-460; discussion 460-441.
- Milner E, Holtzman JC, Friess S, Hartman RE, Brody DL, Han BH, Zipfel GJ (2014) Endovascular perforation subarachnoid hemorrhage fails to cause Morris water maze deficits in the mouse. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 34.
- Morris PG, Wilson JT, Dunn L (2004) Anxiety and depression after spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 54:47-52; discussion 52-44.
- Morris R (1984) Developments of a water-maze procedure for studying spatial learning in the rat. Journal of neuroscience methods 11:47-60.
- Morris RG, Anderson E, Lynch GS, Baudry M (1986) Selective impairment of learning and blockade of long-term potentiation by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, AP5. Nature 319:774-776.
- Morris RG, Garrud P, Rawlins JN, O'Keefe J (1982) Place navigation impaired in rats with hippocampal lesions. Nature 297:681-683.
- Nakazato F, Tada T, Sekiguchi Y, Murakami K, Yanagisawa S, Tanaka Y, Hongo K (2002) Disturbed spatial learning of rats after intraventricular administration of transforming growth factor-beta 1. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 42:151-156; discussion 157.
- Negoescu A, Lorimier P, Labat-Moleur F, Drouet C, Robert C, Guillermet C, Brambilla C, Brambilla E (1996) In situ apoptotic cell labeling by the TUNEL method: improvement and evaluation on cell preparations. J Histochem Cytochem 44:959-968.
- Nishizawa S, Laher I (2005) Signaling mechanisms in cerebral vasospasm. Trends Cardiovasc Med 15:24-34.
- Noble AJ, Baisch S, Mendelow AD, Allen L, Kane P, Schenk T (2008) Posttraumatic stress disorder explains reduced quality of life in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients in both the short and long term. Neurosurgery 63:1095-1104; discussion 1004-1095.
- O'Keefe J, Conway DH (1978) Hippocampal place units in the freely moving rat: why they fire where they fire. Exp Brain Res 31:573-590.
- Ohkuma H, Suzuki S, Kimura M, Sobata E (1991) Role of platelet function in symptomatic cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 22:854-859.

- Park S, Yamaguchi M, Zhou C, Calvert JW, Tang J, Zhang JH (2004) Neurovascular protection reduces early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 35:2412-2417.
- Patil SS, Sunyer B, Hoger H, Lubec G (2009) Evaluation of spatial memory of C57BL/6J and CD1 mice in the Barnes maze, the Multiple T-maze and in the Morris water maze. Behavioural brain research 198:58-68.
- Pena Silva RA, Kung DK, Mitchell IJ, Alenina N, Bader M, Santos RA, Faraci FM, Heistad DD, Hasan DM (2014) Angiotensin 1-7 reduces mortality and rupture of intracranial aneurysms in mice. Hypertension 64:362-368.
- Petitti DB, Wingerd J (1978) Use of oral contraceptives, cigarette smoking, and risk of subarachnoid haemorrhage. Lancet 2:234-235.
- Piepgras A, Thome C, Schmiedek P (1995) Characterization of an anterior circulation rat subarachnoid hemorrhage model. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 26:2347-2352.
- Poisson SN, Glidden D, Johnston SC, Fullerton HJ (2014) Deaths from stroke in US young adults, 1989-2009. Neurology 83:2110-2115.
- Powell J, Kitchen N, Heslin J, Greenwood R (2002) Psychosocial outcomes at three and nine months after good neurological recovery from aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: predictors and prognosis. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry 72:772-781.
- Pradilla G, Chaichana KL, Hoang S, Huang J, Tamargo RJ (2010) Inflammation and cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurg Clin N Am 21:365-379.
- Prut L, Belzung C (2003) The open field as a paradigm to measure the effects of drugs on anxiety-like behaviors: a review. European journal of pharmacology 463:3-33.
- Rabinstein AA, Friedman JA, Weigand SD, McClelland RL, Fulgham JR, Manno EM, Atkinson JL, Wijdicks EF (2004) Predictors of cerebral infarction in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 35:1862-1866.
- Rapp PR, Rosenberg RA, Gallagher M (1987) An evaluation of spatial information processing in aged rats. Behavioral neuroscience 101:3-12.
- Rodgers RJ, Dalvi A (1997) Anxiety, defence and the elevated plus-maze. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews 21:801-810.
- Sabri M, Ai J, Marsden PA, Macdonald RL (2011) Simvastatin re-couples dysfunctional endothelial nitric oxide synthase in experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. PloS one 6:e17062.
- Sasaki T, Hoffmann U, Kobayashi M, Sheng H, Ennaceur A, Lombard FW, Warner DS (2016) Long-Term Cognitive Deficits After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Rats. Neurocritical care.
- Schievink WI (1997) Intracranial aneurysms. The New England journal of medicine 336:28-40.
- Schievink WI, Katzmann JA, Piepgras DG, Schaid DJ (1996) Alpha-1-antitrypsin phenotypes among patients with intracranial aneurysms. Journal of neurosurgery 84:781-784.
- Schievink WI, Wijdicks EF, Parisi JE, Piepgras DG, Whisnant JP (1995) Sudden death from aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 45:871-874.
- Schmued LC, Hopkins KJ (2000) Fluoro-Jade B: a high affinity fluorescent marker for the localization of neuronal degeneration. Brain research 874:123-130.

- Schweichel JU, Merker HJ (1973) The morphology of various types of cell death in prenatal tissues. Teratology 7:253-266.
- Sehba FA, Schwartz AY, Chereshnev I, Bederson JB (2000) Acute decrease in cerebral nitric oxide levels after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 20:604-611.
- Sharma S, Rakoczy S, Brown-Borg H (2010) Assessment of spatial memory in mice. Life sciences 87:521-536.
- Shea AM, Reed SD, Curtis LH, Alexander MJ, Villani JJ, Schulman KA (2007) Characteristics of nontraumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage in the United States in 2003. Neurosurgery 61:1131-1137; discussion 1137-1138.
- Shen H, Chen Z, Wang Y, Gao A, Li H, Cui Y, Zhang L, Xu X, Wang Z, Chen G (2015) Role of Neurexin-1beta and Neuroligin-1 in Cognitive Dysfunction After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Rats. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 46:2607-2615.
- Shimada K, Furukawa H, Wada K, Korai M, Wei Y, Tada Y, Kuwabara A, Shikata F, Kitazato KT, Nagahiro S, Lawton MT, Hashimoto T (2015) Protective Role of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-gamma in the Development of Intracranial Aneurysm Rupture. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 46:1664-1672.
- Shmonin A, Melnikova E, Galagudza M, Vlasov T (2014) Characteristics of cerebral ischemia in major rat stroke models of middle cerebral artery ligation through craniectomy. International journal of stroke : official journal of the International Stroke Society 9:793-801.
- Silasi G, Colbourne F (2009) Long-term assessment of motor and cognitive behaviours in the intraluminal perforation model of subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Behavioural brain research 198:380-387.
- Siler DA, Berlow YA, Kukino A, Davis CM, Nelson JW, Grafe MR, Ono H, Cetas JS, Pike M, Alkayed NJ (2015) Soluble Epoxide Hydrolase in Hydrocephalus, Cerebral Edema, and Vascular Inflammation After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 46:1916-1922.
- Solomon RA, Antunes JL, Chen RY, Bland L, Chien S (1985) Decrease in cerebral blood flow in rats after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: a new animal model. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 16:58-64.
- Springer MV, Schmidt JM, Wartenberg KE, Frontera JA, Badjatia N, Mayer SA (2009) Predictors of global cognitive impairment 1 year after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 65:1043-1050; discussion 1050-1041.
- Springer TA (1994) Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. Cell 76:301-314.
- Sun X, Ji C, Hu T, Wang Z, Chen G (2013) Tamoxifen as an effective neuroprotectant against early brain injury and learning deficits induced by subarachnoid hemorrhage: possible involvement of inflammatory signaling. J Neuroinflammation 10:157.
- Suzuki M, Kudo A, Otawara Y, Hirashima Y, Takaku A, Ogawa A (1999) Extrinsic pathway of blood coagulation and thrombin in the cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 44:487-493; discussion 493-484.
- Takata K, Sheng H, Borel CO, Laskowitz DT, Warner DS, Lombard FW (2008) Long-term cognitive dysfunction following experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: new perspectives. Experimental neurology 213:336-344.

- Taylor TN, Davis PH, Torner JC, Holmes J, Meyer JW, Jacobson MF (1996) Lifetime cost of stroke in the United States. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 27:1459-1466.
- Teng Z, Jiang L, Hu Q, He Y, Guo Z, Wu Y, Huang Z, Cao F, Cheng C, Sun X, Guo Z (2016) Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor beta/delta Alleviates Early Brain Injury After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Rats. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 47:196-205.
- Titova E, Ostrowski RP, Zhang JH, Tang J (2009) Experimental models of subarachnoid hemorrhage for studies of cerebral vasospasm. Neurological research 31:568-581.
- Tso MK, Lass E, Ai J, Loch Macdonald R (2015) Valproic Acid treatment after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl 120:81-85.
- van der Worp HB, Howells DW, Sena ES, Porritt MJ, Rewell S, O'Collins V, Macleod MR (2010) Can animal models of disease reliably inform human studies? PLoS Med 7:e1000245.
- van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ (2001) Subarachnoid haemorrhage: diagnosis, causes and management. Brain 124:249-278.
- Veelken JA, Laing RJ, Jakubowski J (1995) The Sheffield model of subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 26:1279-1283; discussion 1284.
- Vergouwen MD, Etminan N, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Lower incidence of cerebral infarction correlates with improved functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 31:1545-1553.
- Vergouwen MD, Knaup VL, Roelofs JJ, de Boer OJ, Meijers JC (2014) Effect of recombinant ADAMTS-13 on microthrombosis and brain injury after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH 12:943-947.
- Vorhees CV, Williams MT (2006) Morris water maze: procedures for assessing spatial and related forms of learning and memory. Nature protocols 1:848-858.
- Vorhees CV, Williams MT (2014) Assessing spatial learning and memory in rodents. ILAR J 55:310-332.
- Wang Z, Ji C, Wu L, Qiu J, Li Q, Shao Z, Chen G (2014) Tert-butylhydroquinone alleviates early brain injury and cognitive dysfunction after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: role of Keap1/Nrf2/ARE pathway. PloS one 9:e97685.
- Wang Z, Wu L, You W, Ji C, Chen G (2013) Melatonin alleviates secondary brain damage and neurobehavioral dysfunction after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: possible involvement of TLR4-mediated inflammatory pathway. J Pineal Res 55:399-408.
- Weir B, MacDonald L (1993) Cerebral vasospasm. Clin Neurosurg 40:40-55.
- Wermer MJ, Kool H, Albrecht KW, Rinkel GJ, Aneurysm Screening after Treatment for Ruptured Aneurysms Study G (2007) Subarachnoid hemorrhage treated with clipping: long-term effects on employment, relationships, personality, and mood. Neurosurgery 60:91-97; discussion 97-98.
- Xie Y, Liu W, Zhang X, Wang L, Xu L, Xiong Y, Yang L, Sang H, Ye R, Liu X (2015) Human Albumin Improves Long-Term Behavioral Sequelae After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Through Neurovascular Remodeling. Critical care medicine 43:e440-449.
- Yamaguchi H, Shen J (2013) Histological analysis of neurodegeneration in the mouse brain. Methods in molecular biology 1004:91-113.

- Yundt KD, Grubb RL, Jr., Diringer MN, Powers WJ (1998) Autoregulatory vasodilation of parenchymal vessels is impaired during cerebral vasospasm. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 18:419-424.
- Zhang J, Zhang Y, Li J, Xing S, Li C, Li Y, Dang C, Fan Y, Yu J, Pei Z, Zeng J (2012) Autophagosomes accumulation is associated with beta-amyloid deposits and secondary damage in the thalamus after focal cortical infarction in hypertensive rats. Journal of neurochemistry 120:564-573.
- Zhang Y, Ying G, Ren C, Jizhang Y, Brogan D, Liu Z, Li S, Ding Y, Borlongan CV, Zhang J, Ji X (2015) Administration of human platelet-rich plasma reduces infarction volume and improves motor function in adult rats with focal ischemic stroke. Brain research 1594:267-273.
- Zhao D, Liu Q, Ji Y, Wang G, He X, Tian W, Xu H, Lei T, Wang Y (2015) Effect of 18betaglycyrrhetinic acid on cerebral vasospasm caused by asymmetric dimethylarginine after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Neurological research 37:476-483.
- Zhou C, Xie G, Wang C, Zhang Z, Chen Q, Zhang L, Wu L, Wei Y, Ding H, Hang C, Zhou M, Shi J (2015) Decreased progranulin levels in patients and rats with subarachnoid hemorrhage: a potential role in inhibiting inflammation by suppressing neutrophil recruitment. J Neuroinflammation 12:200.
- Zuo S, Ge H, Li Q, Zhang X, Hu R, Hu S, Liu X, Zhang JH, Chen Y, Feng H (2016) Artesunate Protected Blood-Brain Barrier via Sphingosine 1 Phosphate Receptor 1/Phosphatidylinositol 3 Kinase Pathway After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Rats. Molecular neurobiology.
- Zuo S, Li W, Li Q, Zhao H, Tang J, Chen Q, Liu X, Zhang JH, Chen Y, Feng H (2015) Protective effects of Ephedra sinica extract on blood-brain barrier integrity and neurological function correlate with complement C3 reduction after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Neuroscience letters 609:216-222.